FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 12/10/2020 9:04 AM

## SUPREME COURT NO. 99310-6 COA NO. 53114-3-II

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/10/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

RONALD SNIDER, Petitioner.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

Pierce County Cause No. 17-1-03643-1

The Honorable Garold E. Johnson, Judge

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Skylar T. Brett Attorney for Appellant/Petitioner

LAW OFFICE OF SKYLAR T. BRETT, PLLC P.O. Box 18084 Seattle, WA 98118 (206) 494-0098 skylarbrettlawoffice@gmail.com

###

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Ronald Snider, the appellant below, asks the Court to review the decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section II below.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Ronald Snider seeks review of the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion entered on November 10, 2020. A copy of the opinion is attached.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A guilty plea is not knowing, voluntary, and intelligent when it is based on misinformation regarding the elements of an offense. Was Mr. Snider's guilty plea to Failure to Register as a Sex Offender entered unknowingly and unintelligently when it was directly based on affirmative misinformation -- regarding the elements of the offense and the relation between those elements and the facts of the case -- provided by the trial court judge?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ronald Snider is a veteran with significant mental health issues. RP (5/30/18) 4; RP (10/2/18) 10, 22-23; RP (12/14/18) 10. Mr. Snider becomes "incoherent" and completely loses his ability to function when he is not taking his medication. RP (12/14/18); RP (10/2/10) 22. At those times, he is unable to perform daily tasks of living like taking care of his

personal hygiene, driving, talking coherently, or going somewhere on a bus. RP (10/2/18) 22-23; RP (12/14/18) 10.

Mr. Snider is required to register as a sex offender and has registered regularly for several years. *See* CP 38-44. He properly registered his address at a group home where he was living until June 2017. CP 106-07.

A few weeks after Mr. Snider left that residence, however, the Sheriff's Department found out that he was no longer living there. CP 106-07. Because Mr. Snider had not re-registered after moving out of the group home, the state charged him with Failure to Register as a Sex Offender. CP 1-2, 4-5, 106-07.

During the period after he left the group home, Mr. Snider was experiencing a mental health breakdown because the Veteran's Administration had changed his medication. RP (10/2/18) 7, 10, 22-23; RP (12/14/18) 10. As a result, he did not "know[] how to take care of [him]self." RP (10/2/18) 11. He did not know that he had changed his address or how to get home by himself. RP (10/2/18) 11, 21-22.

Mr. Snider represented himself *pro se* in the trial court. *See* RP *generally*. His planned trial strategy was to pursue a diminished capacity defense, demonstrating that he did not have the capacity to "knowingly fail to comply" with the registration requirements during the charging

period because of the significant decompensation of his mental health status. RP (10/2/18) 10.

But the trial judge told Mr. Snider that his mental health status at the time was inapposite because the only relevant issue was whether he had known that he was required to register as a sex offender. *See* RP (10/2/18) 13, 21, 24-25, 28. The judge repeatedly informed Mr. Snider that the *mens rea* element of the offense required the state to prove *only* that he had "knowledge of the responsibility to register." RP (10/2/18) 13, 21, 24-25, 28.

After informing Mr. Snider that his entire defense strategy was not relevant to the *mens rea* element of the offense, the judge recommended that Mr. Snider and the prosecutor revisit plea negotiations. RP (10/2/18) 53-54.

After a brief recess, Mr. Snider pled guilty to the offense as charged. RP (10/2/18) 55-56, 63. Mr. Snider timely appealed. CP 86-101. The Court of Appeals affirmed his conviction in an unpublished opinion. *See* Opinion.

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that Mr. Snider's guilty plea was not entered knowing, voluntarily, and intelligently because it was based on affirmative misinformation from the trial court regarding the elements of the offense and the application of the law to Mr. Snider's case. This significant question of constitutional law is of substantial public interest and should be determined by the Supreme Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

In order to convict Mr. Snider of Failure to Register as a Sex Offender at trial, the state would have been required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he had "knowingly fail[ed] to comply" with the registration requirements on the dates in question. RCW 9A.44.132(1).

But the trial court judge told Mr. Snider that that was not the case. RP (10/2/18) 13, 21, 24-25, 28. Instead, the judge said that the state would only have been required to prove that Mr. Snider knew that he was required to register as a sex offender. RP (10/2/18) 13, 21, 24-25, 28.

After the court had given Mr. Snider this affirmative misinformation, he decided to enter a guilty plea. That plea was not entered knowingly and intelligently because it was directly based on misinformation from the judge regarding the elements of the offense and the relation of the law to the facts of the case. This court should grant review and hold that the Court of Appeals erred by failing to vacate Mr. Snider's guilty plea and conviction.

1. A guilty plea is not entered knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently when it is the result of misinformation provided by the trial court.

In order to be constitutionally valid and conform with due process, a guilty plea must be entered knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently. *Bousley v. United States*, 523 U.S. 614, 618–19, 118 S.Ct. 1604, 140 L.Ed.2d 828 (1998) (*citing Brady v. United States*, 397 U.S. 742, 748, 90 S.Ct. 1463, 25 L.Ed.2d 747 (1970)); *State v. R.L.D.*, 132 Wn. App. 699, 704–06, 133 P.3d 505 (2006) (*citing Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 243, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969)); U.S. Const. Amend. XIV.<sup>1</sup>

The "first and most universally recognized requirement of due process" is that, in order for a guilty plea to be intelligent, the accused must first receive "real notice of the true nature of the charge against him." *Bousley*, 523 U.S. at 618 (*citing Smith v. O'Grady*, 312 U.S. 329, 334, 61 S.Ct. 572, 85 L.Ed. 859 (1941)).

A charging document, which accurately recounts the elements of a charged offense gives rise to a presumption that the accused was informed of the nature of the charge against him. *Id.* (*citing Henderson v. Morgan*, 426 U.S. 637, 647, 96 S.Ct. 2253, 49 L.Ed.2d 108 (1976)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Manifest error affecting a constitutional right may be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a)(3). The question of whether a guilty plea has been entered unknowingly, involuntarily, or unintelligently constitutes such an error. *State v. Walsh*, 143 Wn.2d 1, 4, 17 P.3d 591 (2001).

However, that presumption is overcome – and a guilty plea is rendered unintelligent – when the court subsequently misinforms the accused as to the elements of the offense. *Id.* at 18-19 (holding that a guilty plea is not entered intelligently when "the record reveals that neither [the defendant], nor his counsel, nor the court correctly understood the essential elements of the crime with which he was charged.").

A guilty plea "cannot be knowing and intelligent when the defendant has been misinformed about the nature of the charge." *R.L.D.*, 132 Wn. App. at 705; *See also State v. Robinson*, 172 Wn.2d 783, 790, 263 P.3d 1233 (2011) (a guilty plea is not entered into knowingly and voluntarily when it is based on misinformation about the sentencing consequences).

In addition to knowing the elements of the offense, a guilty plea is also not entered into knowingly and intelligently when the accused does not understand whether "the alleged criminal conduct satisfies those elements" -- the relation of the law to the facts of the specific case. *R.L.D.*, 132 Wn. App. at 705 (*citing In re Pers. Restraint of Hews*, 99 Wn.2d 80, 88, 660 P.2d 263 (1983), *aff'd*, 108 Wn.2d 579, 741 P.2d 983 (1987); *McCarthy v. United States*, 394 U.S. 459, 466, 89 S.Ct. 1166, 22 L.Ed.2d 418 (1969)); *See also State v. A.N.J.*, 168 Wn.2d 91, 118–19, 225 P.3d 956 (2010).

#### This is because:

[w]ithout an accurate understanding of the relation of the facts to the law, a defendant is unable to evaluate the strength of the State's case and thus make a knowing and intelligent guilty plea.

*R.L.D.*, 132 Wn. App. at 705-06 (*citing State v. Chervenell*, 99 Wn.2d 309, 317–18, 662 P.2d 836 (1983)).

When a guilty plea is made unintelligently because it is based on misinformation regarding the elements of the offense or regarding the relation of those elements to the facts of the case, this court must permit the accused to withdraw that plea, if desired. *R.L.D.*, 132 Wn. App. at 705; *A.N.J.*, 168 Wn.2d at 118–19.

2. The trial court affirmatively misinformed Mr. Snider regarding the elements of offense of Failure to Register as a Sex Offender and regarding the relation of the law to the facts of his case.

A person is guilty of failure to register as a sex offender only if (a) s/he "has a duty to register under RCW 9A.44.130 and (b) s/he "*knowingly fails to comply*" with the registration requirements. RCW 9A.44.132(1) (emphasis added); *See also State v. Peterson*, 145 Wn. App. 672, 675, 186 P.3d 1179 (2008), *aff'd*, 168 Wn.2d 763, 230 P.3d 588 (2010).

Thus, for example, there is insufficient evidence to support a conviction for Failure to Register when the state fails to prove that the

accused knew that his residence had changed. *State v. Drake*, 149 Wn. App. 88, 92–95, 201 P.3d 1093 (2009).

The *Drake* court reversed the Failure to Register conviction in that case because the state did not show that Mr. Drake knew that he had been evicted from the residence at which he was registered. *Id.* at 94-95. Rather, the state proved only that he had not paid his rent and that his whereabouts were unknown for two weeks. *Id.* Absent some additional evidence that Mr. Drake had been informed of his "lockout" from his apartment, there was insufficient evidence to show that he *knowingly* failed to register after changing his residence, as required under RCW 9A.44.132(1). *Id.* 

Similarly, in order to convict Mr. Snider at trial, the state would have been required to prove that he knew that he had changed his address, triggering the requirement that he re-register with the sheriff. *Drake*, 149 Wn. App at 92–95. The state would also have been required to prove that Mr. Snider knew that he had not re-registered, as required. *Id.*; RCW 9A.44.132(1).

Indeed, Mr. Snider pointed this out to the judge, noting that the Information charged him with "knowingly fail[ing] to comply" with the registration requirements. RP (10/2/18) 10. Mr. Snider went on to argue that his complete inability to function at the time of his alleged failure to

register would have demonstrated that he had not acted "knowingly." See RP (10/2/18) 10.

But the judge told Mr. Snider that he had misunderstood the *mens* rea element of the offense of Failure to Register. Rather, the judge told Mr. Snider that the state would only be required to prove at trial that "[knew] the registration requirement" or "[knew] whether or not [he was] required to register." RP (10/2/18) 20-21.

The judge provided this misinformation to Mr. Snider repeatedly, phrasing it in a variety of ways:

[Evidence of diminished capacity would have to show that Mr. Snider's mental disorder] interfered with the ability to form the mental state, which is knowledge, of the crime charged, which is knowledge of the responsibility to register. That is the only thing at issue in this case.

RP (10/2/18) 13 (emphasis added).

[T]the state still has the burden of proof that the defendant knew. State is not denying that, that he had the responsibility to register; that is their responsibility to prove it.

RP (10/2/18) 24-25.

[Evidence of diminished capacity would have to show that specific mental health condition] create[d] the inability for you to form the proper mental state, *which is knowledge of the duty to report*. *That's it. That's it.* That you have other mental health issues is not relevant.

RP (10/2/18) 28 (emphasis added).

[Diminished capacity requires proof that] you had the inability to form the *mental state to know that you had a duty to register*. And that's what's missing here.

RP (10/2/18) 28 (emphasis added).

The judge was wrong about the *mens rea* element of Failure to Register and about the application of the law to Mr. Snider's case. *Drake*, 149 Wn. App. at 92–95; RCW 9A.44.132(1). In fact, if the case had gone to trial, the state should have been required to prove that Mr. Snider knew that he had changed his residence and also knew that he had not reregistered after doing so – in addition to proving that he knew that he was required to register in the first place. *Drake*, 149 Wn. App. at 92–95; RCW 9A.44.132(1).

The Court of Appeals acknowledges that the trial court's statement regarding the *mens rea* element of the offense was "incomplete." Opinion, p. 9. The Court of Appeals notes that the state would also have been required to prove that Mr. Snider "actually had left his residence at the transitional housing." Opinion, p. 9.

But the Court of Appeals' recitation of the elements is, likewise, incomplete. The Court of Appeals fails to give meaning to the statutory element requiring proof that Mr. Snider had "knowingly fail[ed] to comply" with the registration requirements. RCW 9A.44.132(1). That element requires proof of more than just the fact that the accused knew that the registration requirements existed. Rather, the state must also prove that s/he knowingly *failed to comply* with those requirements. In other

words, in addition to proof that Mr. Snider was aware of the registration requirements, the statute also required proof that he knew what he was doing when he allegedly failed to meet those requirements. In Mr. Snider's case, that should have required proof that he knew that (a) there had been a triggering event requiring him to re-register, (b) that he had not yet changed his registration with the sheriff's office.

The Court of Appeals repeats the trial court's error by failing to give meaning to the statutory requirement of proof that Mr. Snider knowingly failed to comply with the sex-offender registration requirements. RCW 9A.44.132(1); Opinion, pp. 8-10. This Court should grant review in order to clarify the proof required under the *mens rea* element of the offense of Failure to Register as a Sex Offender.

This significant question of constitutional law is of substantial public interest because it could affect every case charging that offense in the state. Mr. Snider's case demonstrates that the requirements of the *mens* rea element of the offense are far from clear to judges at both the trial and appellate court level. This Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

#### VI. CONCLUSION

The issue here is significant under the State Constitution.

Furthermore, because it could impact a large number of criminal cases, it

is of substantial public interest. The Supreme Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).