FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/19/2021 1:33 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 99310-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

RONALD HARRISON SNIDER,

Appellant.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Garold E. Johnson

No. 17-1-03643-1

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Prosecuting Attorney

ZACH DILLON Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 45593/OID # 91121 930 Tacoma Ave., Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-7400

I. INTRODUCTION

This Court should deny review because Snider's claim neither presents a significant question of constitutional law nor involves an issue of substantial public interest. It does not present a significant question of constitutional law because both parties and the court agreed with the long standing principal that a plea must be knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily made, and the validity of a guilty plea is called into question if the court fails to inform the defendant of an essential element of the crime. Here, the Court did not misstate the law so there is no claim of constitutional magnitude.

Rather, Snider seeks to have this Court create a new element in the failure to register as a sex offender statute without any constitutional or statutory basis to support it. This is not an issue of substantial public interest because there is no division among the Court of Appeals. Every case interpreting *State v. Drake* has found that it created a narrow rule for the rare scenario where a defendant's failure to register is based on an eviction. This scenario was not present here. Due to the rarity of this scenario and the consistency of the appellate courts' interpretation of *Drake*, Snider's claim does not create an issue of substantial public interest that warrants Supreme Court review.

II. RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

A. Should this Court accept review where the issue presented is neither a significant question of constitutional law nor of substantial public interest because the Court of Appeals ruling is consistent with long-standing precedent?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 2, 2018, Ronald Snider entered into a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary plea to one count of failure to register as a sex offender - third offense. 10/02/18 RP 63. Before the plea, the Court provided Snider an opportunity to talk to his standby counsel. 10/02/18 RP 54. Snider reviewed the plea with his standby counsel, and she answered all of his questions to his satisfaction. 10/02/18 RP 62. During the court's lengthy plea colloquy, Snider told the court that he carefully considered the elements of the crime and that he didn't have any questions. 10/02/18 RP 57. Snider's plea statement read: "Between July 6, 2017, and April 1st, 2018, in Pierce County, Washington, I knowingly failed to comply with the sex offender registration law having previously been convicted of a felony sex offense, and it was my third offense or subsequent offense." CP 62. Before accepting the plea, the court provided Snider a final opportunity to consult with his attorney and ask her any questions. 10/02/18 RP 62. He rejected this opportunity and plead guilty without hesitation. 10/02/18 RP 62-63.

Earlier that morning, Snider, who appeared pro se, moved for a continuance of the trial date in order to obtain medical records in support of a diminished capacity defense. 10/02/18 RP 2-3. The court repeatedly informed Snider that he needed to be able to make a showing to the court that his specific mental health condition would interfere with his ability to form the requisite mental state. 10/02/18 RP 9, 13, 20-21, 28-29. Snider failed to provide a sufficient offer of proof linking his mental health condition to a diminished

capacity defense so the court rejected Snider's motion for a continuance. 10/02/18 RP 14.

The State then moved to exclude Snider's diminished capacity defense at trial. 10/02/18 RP 23. Snider admitted to the Court: "I completely understood the registration factors." 10/02/18 RP 22. This was consistent with Snider's criminal history that showed he had two prior convictions for attempted failure to register as a sex offender and five prior convictions for failure to register as a sex offender. CP 66-67. Snider never indicated that he was unaware of his registration requirements, rather, he argued that his mental health issues made it more difficult for him to comply with the regulations. 10/02/18 RP 22. He told the court:

[I]t wasn't the knowledge of registration. It was the change of address and the disruption in the stability that caused that to happen.

So it wasn't while I was -- I completely understood the registration factors. But the problem with it was it was the ability to not have stability in the address changes, and the disruption that was taking place by the medications as well as the responsibilities to report to DOC.

10/02/18 RP 21-22. Since Snider admitted that he was able to form the appropriate mens rea, the court granted the State's motion to exclude Snider's diminished capacity defense. 10/02/18 RP 25. In its ruling, however, it reminded Snider that the State still had the burden to prove he knew he had the responsibility to register, and he knowingly failed to comply. 10/02/18 RP 24-25.

Snider expressed concern of moving forward with trial once his diminished capacity defense was excluded. 10/02/18. RP 16. The Court offered Snider a recess so that he could talk to stand-by counsel and reconsider whether he wanted to negotiate a plea-deal with the State. 10/02/18 RP 54. Snider responded: "I would certainly like to do that, Your honor." *Id.* During the break, the parties reached a negotiated plea settlement. 10/02/18 RP 54.

Snider appealed his conviction arguing that his guilty plea was not knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. Br. of App. at 4. Snider argued the trial court misinformed him about the knowledge requirement claiming that pursuant to *State v. Drake*, the State had to prove both (1) that Snider knew he had changed his residence, and (2) that he knew he had not reregistered after doing so. Br. of App. at 10.

The Court of Appeals agreed with Snider that a plea must be knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made, but rejected his overly broad reading of *Drake. State v. Snider*, No. 53114-3-II, 2020 WL 6581315, at *4 (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 10, 2020) (unpublished). The Court of Appeals held that the trial court had no reason to address the limited application of *Drake* with Snider because "there was no indication that Snider had been evicted or otherwise had lost his residence because of a third party's action." *Id.* The Court of Appeals noted that the trial court engaged in a lengthy discussion with Snider who never contested the fact that he knew he had left and needed to register. *Id.* The Court held that the trial court did not misstate the mens rea

requirement because the issue of whether Snider knew he had changed his address was not material to their discussion. *Id.* at 5.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Snider fails to raise a significant question of constitutional law or an issue of substantial public interest that warrants Supreme Court review.

Snider does not claim that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals. Therefore, under RAP 13.4(b), review should only be granted if it raises a significant question of constitutional law or if it involves an issue of substantial public interest. Snider's claim does neither. There is no significant question of constitutional law because both parties and the court agreed that due process requires a guilty plea to be knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently made. Therefore, there is no dispute of constitutional law, but rather one of statutory interpretation regarding the mens rea requirements of the failure to register statute. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Snider's broad interpretation of State v. Drake and held that the trial court did not misinform Snider regarding the elements of the offense. The record clearly establishes that Snider entered into a knowing, intelligent and voluntary plea. All three divisions of our court of appeals agree with the lower court's narrow interpretation of State v. Drake. Therefore, there is no lingering question that raises an issue of substantial public interest that warrants Supreme Court review. The Court of Appeals correctly upheld Snider's plea, and this Court should deny review.

Snider's claim does not raise a significant question of constitutional law because both parties and the court agreed on the due process requirements of accepting a guilty plea. The Court of Appeals agreed with Snider's analysis that "[d]ue process requires that a guilty plea be entered knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently." Snider, 2020 WL 6581315, at *3. Both parties and the Court agreed that the validity of a guilty plea is undermined if the court misinforms the defendant of an essential element of the charged crime. Id. at 4. Instead, Snider's claim is one of statutory construction of the failure to register as a sex offender statute where he errantly attempts to turn one mens requirement-knowingly fail to comply with the registration rea requirements—into three: (1) knowledge he needed to register, (2) knowledge he changed his address, and (3) knowledge he had not reregistered, as required. Br. of App. at 10. This statutory argument is both unsupported by the law and fails to raise a significant question of constitutional law that warrants Supreme Court review.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that *Drake* established a "narrow rule that (1) when a failure to register charge is based on the defendant failing to re-register after a change of residence address and (2) the defendant loses his or her residence because of eviction or otherwise, (3) the State must prove that the defendant had knowledge that he or she had lost that residence." *Snider*, 2020 WL 6581315, at *4 (citing *State v. Drake*, 149 Wn. App. 88, 201 P.3d 1093 (2009)). In *Drake*, the Court found that the State failed to present sufficient evidence that the defendant knowingly failed to register because

- 6 -

there was no evidence he knew he had been evicted to trigger the reregistration requirement. *Drake*, 149 Wn. App. at 94-96. Contrary to Snider's argument, *Drake* never called for the adoption of additional mens rea requirements to prove failure to register as a sex offender, but simply found that the State did not present sufficient evidence that the defendant knew of his duty to register. *Id.* Therefore, the mens rea requirement remains the same the State must prove the defendant knowingly failed to register as required by law.

The trial court did not misinform Snider of the elements of the offense because there was no indication that *Drake* would apply to the current case. The trial court repeatedly informed Snider that the only mens rea that the State was required to prove was that he knew he needed to register. 10/02/18 RP 9, 13, 20, 21. Snider never indicated that he didn't know he was required to register or that he didn't know he had changed addresses. 10/02/18 RP 29. Rather, Snider confessed that he was aware of his duty to register and told the court: "I completely understood the registration factors." 10/02/18 RP 22. The trial court properly found: "I've not heard anything to suggest that you didn't know your responsibility to report." 10/02/18 RP 29. Therefore, *Drake* did not apply, and the trial court had no reason to address its narrow application.

Snider entered into a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary plea. "Whether a plea is knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made is determined from a totality of the circumstances." *State v. Branch*, 129 Wn.2d 635, 642, 919 P.2d 1228 (1996). If a defendant has received the information and pleads guilty pursuant to a plea agreement, there is a presumption that the plea is knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. *State v. Zhao*, 157 Wn.2d 188, 202, 137 P.3d 835 (2006). Snider reviewed the information and told the Court that he had no questions regarding the elements of the crime. 10/02/18 RP 57. Although he appeared pro se, the trial court provided him multiple opportunities to consult with stand-by counsel who answered all of Snider's questions to his satisfaction. 10/02/18 RP 62. There is nothing in the record to support Snider's argument that he did not enter into his plea knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently. 10/02/18 RP 63. Therefore, this issue does not raise a significant question of constitutional law that warrants Supreme Court review.

This case also does not raise an issue of substantial public interest because the appellate courts have consistently interpreted *Drake* to only apply in certain rare circumstances. Snider does not contest that the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with any published appellate decision, which includes *Drake*. Pet. of App. at 4. All three divisions of our appellate courts have either distinguished *Drake* or specifically held that it applies only in very limited circumstances. *State v. Sage*, No. 79782-4-I, 2020 WL 4459993 at *4 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 3, 2020) (unpublished) (distinguishing Drake because there was no testimony that defendant was evicted or removed from his home); *State v. McDonald*, No. 79077-3-I, 2019 WL 1989620 at *8 (Wash. Ct. App. May 6, 2019) (unpublished) (finding that *Drake* did not establish that the State had to prove the defendant knew he would be late to register); *State v. Pries*, No.

- 8 -

32958-5-III, 2016 WL 901101 at *2 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 8, 2016) (unpublished) (finding that *Drake* did not apply because there was ample proof the defendant intended to abandon his residence); *State v. Fletcher*, No. 46825-5-II, 2015 WL 9303200 at *3 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 22, 2015) (unpublished) (distinguishing *Drake* because the jury could infer that the defendant did not intend to return to his address). Since all three appellate courts agree, there is no lingering question of substantial public interest that requires Supreme Court review.

V. CONCLUSION

Snider's claim neither presents a significant question of constitutional law nor involves an issue of substantial public interest. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial court had no reason to inform Snider of the limited application of *State v. Drake* because there was no indication that Snider was unaware of his change of address or of his duty to register. Therefore, the trial court did not misinform Snider of the elements of the plea and Snider entered into a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary plea. This Court should deny review.